1951

Henry Early v. Karl L. Jackson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment entered June 13, 1951, (R. 6) in the District Court of Salt Lake County, Utah. Motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict was filed June 20, 1951, (R. 8) and denied June 22, 1951 (R. 9-10). Notice of appeal was filed July 18, 1951 (R. 11). The appeal is from the judgment

and the denial of the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. The judgment was against defendant Carl L. Jackson alone as the other defendant was never served nor appeared. Consequently Carl L. Jackson is the only appellant. The case was one for damages arising out of a highway accident near Laketown, Utah, April 3, 1950. The pleas of the parties (R. 1 and 4) were by way of negligence and contributory negligence and by this appeal the only question raised is the sufficiency of the evidence to support the verdict and judgment.

THE FACTS

No attempt will be made here to review the testimony of the medical witnesses as the appellant concedes it, together with other evidence in the record of damage and injury, is amply sufficient to support the amount of the verdict. So we proceed to the facts as we consider them material in view of the question raised by this appeal.

The plaintiff testified he was employed at Laketown, Utah, by one Parnell Johnson, as a butcher and truck driver (R. 96). On April 3, 1950 at about 7:00 or 7:30 when it was dark the accident complained about took place (R. 85). The weather was clear, it had rained that afternoon and the highway was damp. The highway was state highway 3, which runs generally east and west. The highway was about 20 feet wide, had a hard

surface and near the point of the accident a creek crosses under it in a culvert from south to north (R. 99). West of the culvert the highway is straight and level for approximately half a mile (R. 100). Shoulders of three or four feet are on either side of the highway (R. 101). Guard posts were in place on either side of the highway near the culvert on the shoulders (R. 103). From the edge of the highway is quite a steep slope leading down to the creek (R. 104).

On April 3, 1950, plaintiff drove a truck along this highway. He had a load of offal from his employer's slaughter house in the bed of the truck and intended to dump that offal into the creek (R. 105). He parked his truck by backing the same so the rear was over the culvert, his rear wheels two or three feet off the oil. The car pointed in the northeasterly direction and the front of the vehicle was about a foot from the center of the highway (R. 106). After so parking he got out of the cab and into the rear of the truck and started to unload (R. 107). He heard a car approaching and looked up and saw lights approaching from the west (R. 109-11). He got back in the cab, attempted to start the truck, but it wouldn't start and then he got out of the cab and ran down the north side of the highway waving his arm (R. 111). He had left the lights burning on the headlight beams. He thought he was 100 or 140 feet west of the culvert when he heard the brakes screech.

At that time he was at the north edge of the oil. The next thing he knew he waked up in the hospital (R. 113). The rest of his direct examination has to do with his injuries and damages and we do not review it.

On cross examination he stated he had loaded the truck at Laketown with offal from animals slaughtered that day (R. 124); that highway is a through stop highway (R. 125-6); that he had been over the highway many times and the highway led from Garden City to Montpelier, Idaho (R. 123-4). He identified exhibit 1, a photograph, as a picture of the same type of truck with the same type of body as the one he drove that night. Exhibit 2 was also identified by the witness as a picture with the camera pointed east and showing the highway from a point west of the culvert and beyond the culvert (R. 129). The posts shown in the picture are the guard posts he spoke about on direct (R. 130). He parked his truck with the back end to the south and the front toward the north with front nearly to the middle of the highway (R. 131). He used a shovel to push the offal off the truck into the creek. He had turned the motor off but left the headlights on. He had gotten out the driver's side, on the left, to get into the bed of the truck (the side toward the west and the side from which the automobile approached (R. 133). At the point where the creek crosses, and at the point where he parked his truck, there was a six foot drop to the creek (R. 137). He then testified:

Q. Mr. Earley, the manner in which you parked your truck there that night effectively blocked the eastbound lane on that highway, didn't it?

A. The south lane, yes sir.

Q. And anybody who was using that highway, in order to get around you, had to get over on the north side of the highway, on the westbound lane? Did he not?

A. Yes sir.

Q. So you had parked your car entirely across a main lane of traffic on that highway, had you not?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Now you didn't put any flares out on either side of your truck, did you?

A. No sir.

Q. You knew you were taking a big chance when you parked a vehicle in that fashion, didn't you?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And you knew that you were creating a dangerous situation on that highway, didn't you?

A. Yes sir.

Q. How long did you anticipate that it would take you to unload your vehicle?

A. Oh, I would say four or five minutes.

He testified as he was shoveling his back was toward the west (the direction from which the car approached) (R. 139) that he heard the noise and saw the approaching headlights he jumped out of the back of the truck to the ground and then got in the cab behind the wheel and attempted to start the car (R. 140). All this time he kept an eye to his left and saw the car approaching and then he testified he had to do something else (R. 143) and so he got out of the car and started running down the highway waving his arms (R. 144). He testified:

Q. Now Mr. Earley, you knew that this car, in order to get around your car, would have to get over on the north half of the highway, didn't you?

A. Yes sir.

Q. You knew that and appreciated it at the time, didn't you?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And yet knowing all that in your attempts to extricate yourself from this predicament you had put yourself in you went down the north half of that highway? Isn't that right?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Right in the face of that oncoming automobile, isn't that correct?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Knowing full well that that man could not proceed except by getting over in that lane? You knew that, too didn't you?

A. I knew that man could stop if he would.

Q. You knew, too, that he could not proceed except by getting over into that lane, didn't you?

A. Yes sir. Yes sir.

Q. So you had blocked half of the highway with your car, hadn't you?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And now you blocked the other half with yourself, didn't you?

A. I would't say that, no sir.

Q. You wouldn't say that? Well, you were in the other half of the highway, running down there pell mell, weren't you?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Waving your arms?

A. Yes sir.

Q. You knew the highway was twenty feet wide; or thereabouts?

(No answer appears.)

Q. Did you think at the time the man was doing seventy miles an hour?

A. I did, sir.

Q. And yet you expected him to stop?

A. Well, he could have done, I think.

Q. You expected him to stop?

A. Yes sir.

Q. You did? At seventy miles an hour?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And you got down 150 feet from where this car was that you had parked.

A. He could've seen my car.

Q. I didn't ask that. You got down 150 feet from where this car was parked?

A. Approximately.

Q. You had to give him some room to stop in, didn't you?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And you knew very well that in attempting to stop of course he would turn to the left so that if he didn't stop he would at least avoid the parked truck? You knew that, didn't you?

A. No sir, I didn't.

Q. You didn't know?

A. Of anything at the time.

Q. You thought he would go, just go along straight and stop a couple of inches from your truck? Is that what you thought?

A. I was in hopes he would.

Q. He showed no perceptible slowing down, did he?

A. No.

Q. As far as you observed?

A. No sir.

Q. And yet you expected him to stop?

A. I was in hopes of it.

Q. Yes, you were in hopes of it. Why didn't you get entirely off of the highway?

A. You couldn't very handy right there.

Q. You could have moved over to the left, couldn't you, your left, the south side of this highway?

A. I could, yes sir.

Q. As a matter of fact, if you had gone down on the south side of the highway on your left this vehicle never would have struck you, would it?

A. It might not have, I didn't know that.
(R. 147)

He said he was on the oiled highway at all times as he ran to the west toward the approaching car (R. 127) and that at the time he was hit he could have been as close as 50 feet from his parked truck. (R. 50)

Roland Reese testified that he was a state highway patrolman, that he visited the scene of the accident the next day (R. 160). He made some observations at the scene of the accident. He stated the guard posts near the culvert were right near the hard surface portion of the highway; that the highway was 21 feet wide; that the guard posts were about the width of the highway apart (R. 162-3). He stated he found tire tracks 114 feet 6 inches long on the paved portion of the road

going in a diagonal course over to the left side of the highway facing east; that they then went off the paved portion and for 30 feet they continued on the dirt shoulder until they went off the road entirely down the embankment into the creek; that the tire marks off the paved portion showed the car was skidding sideways (R. 166) and that those appeared right over the culvert (R. 167).

He stated at the point the tire tracks first appeared south of the culvert they were astraddle the center of the highway (R. 169). He stated he visited the scene on April 6th, three days after the accident. He further stated the marks on the highway indicated a tire sliding on the road (R. 174).

Several witnesses testified about arriving at the scene of the accident. Muder's automobile (which had struck plaintiff) was north of the highway down over the embankment and somewhat east of the place where plaintiff's truck was still parked on the highway (R. 179). Plaintiff had been knocked into the creek and was brought out by the witness Willis (R. 177). Muder told one of these witnesses he was driving awful fast and he hit Earley awful hard. Some more conversations are detailed at (R. 184 and 185).

One witness stated he drove a car past the parked truck without getting off the highway (R. 184). He stated the Muder car was off the road about 25 feet east

of the highway and in the slough facing the highway (R. 198). He observed tracks on the highway starting about 100 feet west of the culvert and continuing east (R. 202) and to the north until they came opposite to a point where the pickup truck was parked by Earley, where the tracks indicated the rear end of the Muder vehicle had swung around on the shoulder and then down into the slough east of the creek (R. 203).

It was agreed the Johnson truck was driven by plaintiff was 15 $\frac{1}{4}$ feet front bumper to the rear of the bed of the truck and from the front bumper to the farthest portion of the rear tire was 13 $\frac{1}{4}$ feet (R. 215).

The sheriff of the county testified he visited the scene the day following the accident; that he noticed tire marks in the highway commencing in the south (or east-bound lane); that they traveled about 10 feet in the south or east bound lane; that they continued to the northeast; that they got off the oiled road 130 feet from where they started to turn out of the south lane and that it was 144 feet 6 inches from where the marks started to the point where the Muder car came to rest north of the highway and in the slough (R. 219, et seq).

The sheriff identified Exhibit 3, being a picture of the Muder truck as it appeared when he saw it the morning following the accident (R. 226).

Elijah Willis (R. 227) testified about leaving home and going over to the highway and seeing the accident happen. It was he who found plaintiff in the water in the stream and it was he who got Earley out of the stream and up to the highway.

He picked up Earley's hat and gloves on the edge of the oiled road at a guard rail post 45 feet from where he picked Earley up out of the creek (R. 233).

Muder (R. 248) testified on the day in question he was 24 years old; that he was employed by the defendant as a salesman; that he was in the process of driving in his employer's automobile from his residence on Bear Lake to Laketown on some business of his employer when the accident occurred (R. 251). He had been over this highway many times before, having worked in the neighborhood for sometime (R. 252).

He stated after he passed the curve about one-half mile west of the culvert where Big Creek passes under the highway, he was traveling around 45 miles per hour; maybe a little more. His headlights were on high beam (R. 233-4). After he got on the straight away he noticed some headlights facing him up at Laketown. (This was beyond the culvert in the direction he was traveling). As he proceeded along he noticed a small light; and when he saw that he started to brake down. Then he saw the truck across the highway and he could tell his lane

was blocked. He turned left into the north lane, slowing down and got to a point where he was certain he could get past the truck when the man moved up in his headlights with his hands over his head running toward him (R. 255). When he saw the man in front of him he hit his brakes hard and he might have cut back to avoid the man; his truck went into a skid and he slid down the embankment on the east side of the creek (R. 256). When he came to rest he was about 6 feet below the level of the road (R. 257). From the time he saw the light and the truck his attention was directed on it and he kept his eyes on it (R. 257). He estimated he was 30 to 40 feet from the truck when the truck struck Earley and after striking Earley the truck went into a skid and down the embankment. It did not tip over. He got out of the truck and saw a man standing over across the stream (the witness Willis) and got there just as Earley was being pulled out of the stream (R. 258). He stated the highway was damp as he approached the creek and there was mist rising from the creek (R. 261) but this latter statement is contrary to the other witnesses.

Exhibit 3 was identified as a picture of his truck after the accident and he stated the dent shown in the front of the truck was caused when Muder was struck (R. 262). At the time of the collision no part of his vehicle was to the left of the oiled portion of the highway.

His cross examination was essentially the same. He stated visibility was good (R. 265); that he had no particular memory of having looked at the speedmeter but he gauged his speed by reason of his experience with the vehicle and how it operated (R. 266-7). He stated he was blinded by no lights. When asked he testified he was 200 or 300 feet from the culvert when he first saw the low light (the headlight on the parked truck) (R. 268) which light appeared to be in the center of the highway; that he then applied his brakes (R. 269); that in his judgment he was going 25 miles per hour when he saw Earley in front of him; that he traveled probably fifty feet from the time he first noticed the low light (R. 270) until he recognized the truck across his lane; that he got the impression the car was pointed north and east; that he then applied his brakes a little more; that the parked vehicle appeared to be up to the center line of the highway (R. 271); that Earley was from 30 to 50 feet from the parked truck when he got hit; that when he first saw Earley, Earley appeared to be in the center of the road (R. 272); that Earley was 15 or 20 feet in front of him (R. 277); that he hit Earley with such force as to damage the grille and the front portion of the hood and he knocked or carried him into the creek (R. 278).

Muder further testified (and this was the only positive evidence one way or another) that the truck driven by Early had no side lights nor reflectors on the sides (R. 283).

At the close of the evidence defendant moved for a directed verdict (R. 285) and renewed that motion by motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (R. 8). Both motions were denied and this appeal followed.

POINTS.

The facts in this case show the plaintiff to be guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law, and he cannot recover.

ARGUMENT.

The plaintiff parked his automobile in the night-time crosswise of the highway. At the point where he parked his car a stream crossed the highway from south to north, and there was a six foot embankment down to the bed of the stream. He parked his car, not by stopping parallel on the highway, but by backing around so that his vehicle was almost squarely across the eastbound or south portion of the highway and pointed slightly east of north. The rear of the vehicle was at the edge of the south shoulder and the front edge of the vehicle was but inches from the center of the highway. The hard surfaced portion of this highway was 21 feet wide, and for some distance on either side of where this plaintiff parked his truck guard posts were erected

alongside the edge of the hard surfaced road, so that the shoulders were beyond the guard posts, narrowing the highway for vehicular traffic to 21 feet as the shoulders could not be used.

The headlights were pointed slightly east of north and the rear end of the vehicle was hanging out over the edge of the highway toward the south. The headlights were across the highway with nothing to intersect them or reflect them onto the highway and the tail light was shining off to the south. The side of this vehicle was facing the direction from which defendant's automobile approached, and no flares, side-lights nor reflectors were on the vehicle nor placed in the vicinity. The parking of this vehicle in this fashion was entirely for the convenience of the plaintiff. His only purpose in so parking was so he could more conveniently unload his vehicle into the bed of the stream.

In thus parking his vehicle the plaintiff offended against Section 57-7-165, Utah Code, reading:

“Upon any highway outside of a business or residence district no person shall stop, park or leave standing any vehicle, whether attended or unattended, upon the paved or main traveled part of the highway when it is practical to stop, park or so leave such vehicle off such part of said highway, but in every event an unobstructed width of the highway opposite a standing vehicle

shall be left for the free passage of other vehicles and a clear view of such stopped vehicle shall be available from a distance of 200 feet in each direction upon such highway.”

The Supreme Court of Nebraska, in *Huston v. Robinson* (1944), 13 N.W. (2) 885 had this to say about a statute similar to the above quoted section:

“On the other hand, there is danger of being struck from the rear when one stops his car because of poor visibility on a highly traveled highway. The law imposes certain requirements upon a driver in thus blocking the highway. The purpose of the statute hereinbefore quoted is to keep the highway free from obstructions by standing vehicles. The requirement in that respect is positive unless circumstances exist which make moving of the vehicle off the paved, improved or main traveled portion of the highway impracticable.”

The California Supreme Court in *Thomson v. Bayless* (1944), 150 Pacific (2) 413 in construing and applying a section of the California motor vehicle code exactly similar to Section 57-7-165, states:

“A violation of this section, designed to protect persons traveling on the highway, constitutes negligence by the operator of the vehicle. * * * The evidence shows the truck and trailer were parked ‘outside of a business or residence district * * * upon the paved or improved or main traveled portion of the highway’ within the meaning of section 582, and

defendants do not dispute this fact. It follows, therefore, insofar as defendants' negligence is concerned, the only question to be determined is whether or not it was 'practicable' for Bayless to park off the highway.

"Although it may be inconsistent with general rules of statutory construction, * * * the courts in this state have uniformly held for the past 12 years that a prima facie case of negligence is established under section 582 by proof that the vehicle was left on the paved portion of the highway outside of a business or residential district and that the burden to show that it was not practicable to drive off the main traveled portion of the highway rests upon the operator of such vehicle."

Paragraph (13) of Section 57-7-167 prohibits the stopping, standing or parking of a vehicle upon any bridge or other elevated structure. This plaintiff parked his car on the portion of the highway where it was narrowest, where there was a steep embankment six feet or more in height from the level of the highway to the stream, and he had parked it immediately on top of the culvert or opening under the highway through which the stream flowed. Add to this the guard posts erected and in place along the highway at that point and one has the highway passing over a stream on the equivalent of a bridge.

In addition to the plaintiff's negligence in the way he parked his car as shown above, the record

shows that he took no steps whatever to warn any on-coming traffic of the presence of his truck on the traveled portion of the highway.

Section 57-7-191, Utah Code, requires, when there is insufficient light to reveal any person or object within a distance of 500 feet upon such highway, a vehicle parked or stopped shall be equipped with one or more lamps "which shall exhibit a white light on the roadway side visible from a distance of 500 feet to the front of such vehicle and a red light visible from a distance of 500 feet to the rear."

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