1951

Henry Early v. Karl L. Jackson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER THE POSITION IN WHICH THE EARLEY TRUCK WAS PARKED ON THE HIGHWAY AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT PROXIMATELY CONTRIBUTED TO THE ACCIDENT WAS A QUESTION OF FACT TO BE DECIDED BY THE JURY.

The Earley vehicle was parked on the south side of the highway over the culvert headed northwest with the front end thereof about a foot south of the center line of the highway. The defendant claims that this constituted negligence under Section 57-7-165 of the Utah Code. It was nonetheless for the jury to determine whether such negligence proximately contributed to the accident. See 4 Blashfield Cyclopedia of Automobile Law & Practice, Part 2, Sec. 2683:

“As to contributory negligence, the rule is that the fact that one is violating a statute or ordinance, at the time of receiving an injury of which he complains, is not conclusive so as to bar his recovery for the injury. In other words, while such violation may constitute negligence, in order that it may be available as a defense, it must further be shown that it proximately contributed to the accident.”

At page 19 of his brief defendant cites the California case of *Thomson v. Bayless* (1944) 150 Pac. (2) 413, which construed a provision of the California Motor Vehicle Code exactly similar to the Utah Statute. In that case the California Supreme Court in affirming the jury's verdict, sets forth the general rule governing such cases, as follows:

“It has recently been held that whether or not parking on the highway in violation of Section 582 of the Vehicle Code constitutes a proximate cause of the accident where the driver of the car in motion might also have been negligent, is a question of fact for the jury if reasonable men can differ thereon. *Inai v. Ede*, 59 Cal. App. 2d 549, 555, 139 P. 2d 76; see, also, opinion on prior appeal, 42 Cal. App. 2d 521, 526, 527, 109 P. 2d 400; cf. *Fennessey v. Pacific Gas & Elec. Co.*, 20 Cal. 2d 141, 124 P. 2d 51; *Mason v. Crawford*, supra.”

In the case at bar the jury by its verdict found that the position in which the Earley truck was parked on the highway did not proximately contribute to the accident. The jury's verdict should, therefore, stand.

II. WHETHER THE ABSENCE OF FLARES OR WARNING LIGHTS ON THE EARLEY TRUCK PROXIMATELY CONTRIBUTED TO THE ACCIDENT WAS A QUESTION OF FACT FOR THE JURY.

The defendant relies upon Section 57-7-191 of the Utah Code to show that there should be sufficient lights to reveal the presence of the vehicle at a distance of 500 feet and also relies upon Sections 57-7-212 and 57-7-213 requiring vehicles disabled upon the highway to exhibit flares, lanterns or reflectors at stated distances in front of and behind the vehicle.

It is undisputed in this case that there were no flares around the Earley truck. However, the evidence clearly shows that the headlights on the vehicle were burning and that the vehicle was headed northwest upon the highway. The evidence further discloses that the defendant's driver actually saw a light in the middle of the highway when he was 200-300 feet away and clearly saw the outline of the Earley truck on the highway when he was 200-250 feet away from it. Farrell Johnson, one of the plaintiff's witnesses, testified that he observed the lights on the Earley truck when he rounded the bend a half a mile west of the truck. The defendant's driver admitted that visibility was good and that as he rounded the curve a half a mile west of the scene of the accident he was able to see the lights burning in Laketown a mile away and at that point could clearly see the headlights on a vehicle in Laketown which was parked by a pool hall there. The defendant's witness, Elijah C. Willis, testified that he lived 1000 feet northwest of the culvert on which the

Earley truck was parked and that while at his home he observed the lights on the Earley truck as it was parked on the highway. Other witnesses who came from the east testified that they had observed the lights on the Earley truck and the defendant's truck when they were a half a mile to the east.

The purpose of a statute requiring lights or the placing of flares, reflectors or other devices is simply to give adequate warning of the presence of the vehicle. Where as in this case, there was actual and adequate notice of the presence of the vehicle the absence of flares, reflectors or other types of warning lights was wholly immaterial. The defendant's driver actually saw the light on the Earley truck when he was 250-300 feet away and actually saw the outline of the Earley truck on the highway when he was 200-250 feet away. He, therefore, knew in ample time of the presence of the defendant's vehicle on the highway and knew that it was parked crosswise in his lane headed north blocking the eastbound lane of travel. Furthermore, in view of the testimony of other witnesses and particularly that of Farrell Johnson and of Elijah Willis the jury could very readily have found that the defendant's driver saw or should have seen the light on the Earley truck when he rounded the curve approximately a half a mile to the west, or at least when he was within 1000 feet of the truck. It was for the jury under this evidence to determine whether any negligence in this particular proximately caused the accident. See 4 Blashfield Cyclopedia of Automobile Law & Practice, Part 2, Sec. 2632:

“The negligence of a driver in failing to have proper lights is not of itself actionable, nor will such negligence preclude recovery for injuries sustained in an automobile accident, if it is not the proximate cause of the accident; otherwise if such failure is the proximate cause of the accident.”

* * *

“The failure of a vehicle to carry lights as required by the law is immaterial if the unlighted vehicle was nevertheless plainly seen, or could have been plainly seen by the exercise of ordinary care, in time to avoid a collision, * * *.”

The case of *Duncan v. Madrid*, 101 Pac. (2) 382 (New Mex. 1940) cited at page 24 of the appellant's brief, was tried in the lower court without a jury. The appellate court merely held that there was sufficient evidence to support the findings and decisions of the lower court.

The case of *Paulsen, et al. v. Spencer*, 177 Pac. (2) 597 (Calif.) cited at page 24 of appellant's brief specifically held that it was for the jury to determine whether the absence of lights on the vehicle was a proximate cause of the accident. The California Court in that case said:

“The appellants first contend that it must be held, as a matter of law, that the respondent was guilty of negligence and that such negligence proximately resulted in the death of Paulsen. While there is some evidence indicating that the respondent parked his car as well off the pavement as was reasonably possible under the circumstances, there would seem to be no question that

he was negligent in not at least leaving a rear light lighted, as required by section 627(c) of the Motor Vehicle Code. *However, a question of fact was presented as to whether that negligence was a proximate cause of the death of Paulsen.* This is true because of the other circumstances which appear, with the reasonable inferences therefrom, which will be referred to in connection with the next point raised.” (Italics ours)

The other circumstances were that road on which the accident occurred was straight and afforded a clear view for at least three-eighths of a mile toward the parked car. The court stated that it must therefore be presumed that the deceased had lights of the strength required by the vehicle code to disclose the presence of the unlighted vehicle on the highway and that the question was, therefore, one for the jury.

The Montana Supreme Court adopted the same view in the case of *Ashley v. Safeway Stores, Inc.*, 47 Pac. (2d) 53, cited at pages 24 and 25 of appellant’s brief. There the truck was parked partially on the highway with no lights burning thereon either front or rear. In referring to the Montana statute which requires every motor vehicle to display two white lights in front and one light in the rear, the court said:

“A violation of this statute constitutes negligence. *Simpson v. Miller*, 97 Mont. 328, 34 P. (2d) 528. *Whether such negligence was the proximate cause of the accident or whether plaintiff was barred by reason of contributory negligence of Kitt was a question for the jury.* *McNair v. Berger*, 92

Mont. 441, 15 P. (2d) 834; *Fulton v. Chouteau County Farmers' Co.*, *supra*." (*Italics ours*)

It was for the jury in the case at bar to determine whether the absence of flares or other warning signs on or about the Earley truck proximately contributed to the accident. The jury found by its verdict that there was no contributory negligence on the plaintiff's part in this connection which proximately contributed to the accident. Under the facts of this case, there was ample evidence to support the jury in its finding. Its verdict, therefore, should not be disturbed.

III. WHETHER THE ACTION OF THE PLAINTIFF IN RUNNING DOWN THE NORTH EDGE OF THE HIGHWAY TOWARD THE DEFENDANT'S VEHICLE PROXIMATELY CONTRIBUTED TO THE ACCIDENT WAS A QUESTION OF FACT TO BE DECIDED BY THE JURY.

The appellant in his brief quotes from the Utah cases of *Reid v. Owen*, 93 Pac. (2) 680, 98 Utah 50, *Mingus v. Olsson*, 201 Pac. (2) 495, and *Sant v. Miller*, 206 Pac. (2) 719. All of these cases involve pedestrians who were crossing the highway and who were held to be contributorily negligent as a matter of law as they either did not look or failed to see the oncoming automobile before crossing its path. None of these cases are in point because the plaintiff in this case was not crossing the highway and was not crossing the path of the automobile. The plaintiff was proceeding down the north edge of the highway and the defendant's automobile until the brakes were applied an instant before the plaintiff was

struck was proceeding along the south side of the highway. It was not until the brakes were applied and the car apparently swerved to the left that the plaintiff was in any apparent danger, and it was then too late for him to avoid the accident as he testified that he was struck immediately after he heard the screech of brakes.

The appellant cites Section 57-7-46 of the Utah Code which requires a pedestrian when practicable to walk on the left side of the roadway facing the traffic which may approach from the opposite direction. The purpose of this statute is that a pedestrian shall so walk that he can see traffic which is approaching from the opposite direction, and will be in no danger of being struck from the rear. Here the plaintiff was not struck from the rear and was in fact facing the traffic which was proceeding in the opposite direction. As far as he was concerned it was immaterial that he was on the north edge of the road. Furthermore, it was likewise wholly immaterial from the defendant's standpoint. The defendant's driver testified that when he was 250-300 feet away from the Earley truck his headlights were illuminating the road for its entire width and that he had a clear and unobstructed vision ahead; that he was not blinded by the lights of any vehicles approaching from the opposite direction. The plaintiff's presence on the north edge of the highway should, therefore, have been discovered by the defendant's driver just as readily as though he had been proceeding on the south side of the highway. Furthermore, this Court has held that it is for the jury to determine whether the negligence of a pedestrian in

walking on the right hand side of the highway with his back to approaching traffic proximately contributes to the accident. See *Roach v. Kyremes*, Utah....., 211 Pac. (2) 181 (1949), where this court held:

“Appellant first contends the court erred in failing to direct a verdict in his favor because respondent was guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law by walking in or along the right hand side of the highway because in so doing, she voluntarily placed herself in a perilous position. In determining whether a plaintiff is contributorily negligent as a matter of law, the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom must be viewed in a light most favorable to the plaintiff. Considered from this standpoint, there is evidence that respondent and Miss Sickler were not walking on the main travelled portion of the highway but out on the west shoulder; that they maintained a lookout for approaching traffic by glancing to the rear; that they moved farther over on the shoulder as automobiles approached; and, that they saw no light from defendant’s car nor did they hear it approach. Under circumstances such as these, it cannot be said that all reasonable men must conclude that respondent failed to exercise due care for her own safety.”

See also *Chatelain v. Thackeray*, 98 Utah 525, 100 Pac. (2d) 191. In that case the plaintiff was walking along the right hand side of the highway with his back to approaching traffic when he was struck by a vehicle proceeding in the same direction as he. The plaintiff testified that he was walking at a point about 3 feet east of the hard surfaced portion of the highway on the

gravelled shoulder, and the defendant's testimony was that the plaintiff was walking about 3 feet out on the hard surfaced road. It was contended by the defendant that the plaintiff in thus walking on the right hand side of the road with his back to approaching traffic was guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law. The court held that the question of contributory negligence was properly submitted to the jury and the jury having found against the defendant, the appellate court was bound thereby.

See also *Hooker v. Schuler*, (Ida.) 260 Pac. 1027, in which the Idaho court held that a pedestrian walking on the right hand side of the highway contrary to a statute similar to the Utah statute was not guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law, stating as follows:

“The trial court properly submitted the question of whether respondent's walking on the right-hand side of the road, or the negligent manner in which appellant handled his car, or the existence of defective brakes on his car, was the proximate cause of the injury, and it was certainly a question for the jury to determine what was the proximate cause of the injury complained of under proper instructions by the court.”

It is, therefore, respectfully submitted that it was for the jury to determine whether the defendant was negligent in running along the north edge of the highway toward the approaching car and whether such negligence, if any, was the proximate cause of the accident. The verdict of the jury clearly indicated that the sole

proximate cause of the accident was the negligence of the defendant and that there was no contributory negligence on the part of the plaintiff which proximately contributed to the accident. The jury's verdict on this point should stand.

IV. THE POSITION OF THE EARLEY TRUCK ON THE HIGHWAY COMBINED WITH EARLEY'S ACTION IN RUNNING DOWN THE NORTH EDGE OF THE HIGHWAY TO WARN THE ONCOMING VEHICLE DID NOT AS A MATTER OF LAW PROXIMATELY CONTRIBUTE TO THE ACCIDENT.

For the purpose of this appeal the court must adopt the evidence most favorable to the plaintiff. In this connection there was evidence that the Earley truck was parked on the highway over the culvert headed northwest with its front end about a foot south of the center line of the highway leaving the entire north half of the highway and one foot of the south portion of the highway open for traffic. The evidence was undisputed that the highway was straight and practically level for a distance of one half a mile to the west; that there was no fog, mist or anything in any way to interfere with visibility; that the headlights on the Earley truck were properly burning. There was also evidence to indicate that the plaintiff at the time of the accident was 150 feet west of his truck on the north edge of the paved road as close as he could get and that it was impractical at that point for the plaintiff to get entirely off the oiled portion of the road; that there was at least 8 feet between the plaintiff and the center line of the highway on the north

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